FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/16/2024 4:24 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/17/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_ (COA No. 386872-III) Case #: 1030827

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MITCHELL CRANE,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE L. BENWARD Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mitchell Crane, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review pursuant to RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4.

#### **B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. In *State v. Hatt*, Division I of the Court of Appeals found that when a person is convicted for both being a felon in possession of a firearm and for possession of the same unlawful firearm, these offenses were the same criminal conduct because the objective criminal intent in committing the two crimes was the same: to possess the firearm. 11 Wn. App. 2d 113, 141, 452 P.3d 577 (2020). In Mr. Crane's case, Division III reached the opposite conclusion after this Court's decision in *State v. Westwood*, 2 Wn.3d 157, 534 P.3d 1162 (2023), even though *Westwood* upholds *State v*. *Dunaway's* objective intent analysis upon which Division I based its decision in *Hatt*. 11 Wn. App. 2d at 142 (citing *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987)). This Court should accept review to guide courts in the application of *Westwood* and resolve this division split. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2).

2. The offense of witness intimidation is committed if a person attempted to influence a current or prospective witness's testimony by threatening them. Testimony is defined as any statement offered by a witness in an "official proceeding." The evidence at trial was that Mr. Crane told his neighbor he would kill the person who reported him to Fish and Wildlife, but not that he tried to influence any person's "testimony." This Court should accept review to ensure people are not convicted of witness tampering for generalized threats unrelated to any official proceeding. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. The court instructed the jury that to convict Mr. Crane of unlawful possession of a firearm, the State had to prove he knowingly possessed each particular gun identified by its make, model, and/or serial number in the to-convict instruction. The trial evidence did not show Mr. Crane knowingly possessed these specific firearms. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals erred in finding the evidence was sufficient to establish the element of knowing possession of specifically identified firearms. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mitchell Crane lived next to his mother, Trudy Crane, in rural Finley, Washington. RP 285.<sup>1</sup> Like many people in this part of rural Washington, Mr. Crane's family's pastime was hunting, and he raised his now-adult son, Andrew, to hunt as well. RP 325.

Fish and Wildlife began an investigation of Mr. Crane for deer poaching. RP 275–76, 268. The Department obtained a search warrant for Mr. Crane's home where he had lived with his girlfriend, Nadine Lacotti. RP 275–76. Officers arrived on the Crane property in three to four trucks with emergency lights flashing. RP 199. Mr. Crane was not home, but Ms. Lacotti was. RP 198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "RP" citations reference the consecutively paginated VRP from the trial. Reference to any other hearings will include the date of the hearing followed by the page number.

The officers raided Mr. Crane's home and shop. RP 194, 201, 226. They found 27 firearms in the primary bedroom of the house. RP 271. There was a gun safe, but it was open, and firearms were lying outside of it. RP 244. The officers also searched Mr. Crane's workshop on the property and found two firearms in a toolbox, one of which had a barrel under 18 inches long, which was below the legal length for a shotgun. RP 244–45.

Mr. Crane arrived home about 45 minutes to an hour after Fish and Wildlife officers had arrived. RP 200. Mr. Crane said the residence and shop were his. RP 202–03. When the officer first asked Mr. Crane about the firearms, Mr. Crane said, "most . . . belonged to him," some belonged to his son, and some to Ms. Lacotti. RP 203. He said the firearms were stored in a gun safe for which only Ms. Lacotti had a key. RP 203. Mr. Crane did not specify which firearms were his and which belonged to other people. RP 205–06. The officer never asked Mr. Crane which guns had been brought to his house, and the officer never took Mr. Crane into the bedroom to show him the specific guns they had found. RP 209.

Mr. Crane told the officer the two guns found in the shop were "replicas" he had gotten from an acquaintance. RP 207. He was refurbishing them. RP 207. There were paper shells located in the shop intended for older firearms. RP 230.

Fish and Wildlife seized all the guns they found in the bedroom and the shop. RP 220. The State charged Mr. Crane with 29 counts of unlawful possession of a firearm for each of them, in addition to charging him with possession of an unlawful firearm for the short-barreled shotgun. CP  $10-18.^2$ 

The officers took photographs of each gun. RP 220. Another officer prepared a PowerPoint slide with photographs taken that day. RP 278. The officer added wording on the slide that included each gun's make, model, and/or serial number. RP 278–79; Ex. 1–54. The State showed these PowerPoint slides to the jury at trial. *Id*.

Trudy Crane, Mr. Crane's mother, testified that because Mr. Crane could not lawfully possess firearms, they were to be passed on to his son, Andrew. RP 291. She believed that Ms. Lacotti was holding them for Andrew until he had a place to store them. RP 291.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Mr. Crane stipulated to a prior offense that made him ineligible to possess firearms. CP 19.

Andrew testified that, indeed, because his dad could not lawfully possess firearms, he stored these guns that he considered his, with his stepmother, Ms. Lacotti. RP 299. He also said the toolbox in his dad's shop belonged to him, along with the guns found there. RP 303.

Andrew Kienholz lived with his dad and family about five or six miles from where Mr. Crane lived. RP 183. Andrew Kienholz had anonymously spoken to Fish and Wildlife about Mr. Crane and was aware of their investigation. RP 183–84.

After the Fish and Wildlife raid of his house, Mr. Crane drove to Andrew Kienholz's house at about 7– 7:30 p.m. RP 184. Mr. Kienholz's dad answered the door and told his son, "Mitch was outside, and he wanted to talk in his car." RP 185. Mr. Kienholz's father noted that Mr. Crane "appeared to be normal." RP 192. Mr. Kienholz was nervous but got into the car to speak with Mr. Crane. RP 185.

Andrew Kienholz is 6'5" tall and weighs about 250 pounds. RP 189. He said Mitch was very demanding. RP 187. Mr. Kienholz said Mitch asked him if he had reported him to Fish and Wildlife and "that if we had any problems we could go out in the front yard and duke it out right now." RP 185. Mitch again asked Mr. Kienholz if he was the one that turned him into Fish and Wildlife, which Mr. Kienholz again denied. RP 185. Mr. Kienholz then said Mitch "told me that when he found out who turned him in, that he was gonna kill them." RP 185.

The State charged Mr. Crane with intimidating a witness based on Mr. Kienholz's claim about the threat, in addition to the firearm offenses. CP 12. The to-convict instruction for the numerous unlawful possession of firearm charges included the make, model, and serial number information the officer had added onto the PowerPoint slides that were entered as exhibits at trial. Ex. 1–54; CP 38–66. The jury found Mr. Crane guilty of each count and the witness intimidation charge. CP 73–103.

At sentencing, the parties agreed that all of the convictions for unlawful possession of the firearms found respectively in the bedroom and shop were the same criminal conduct that counted as a single offense in Mr. Crane's offender score. 1/05/22 RP 5–6; CP 106.

But the State argued that Mr. Crane should receive an additional point in his offender score because one of his convictions for unlawfully possessing firearms was for a short-barreled shotgun which he was also convicted of possessing as an unlawful firearm. 1/05/22 RP 6–8.

Mr. Crane argued that his conviction for unlawful possession of the short-barreled shotgun for which he was also convicted of unlawful possession, was the same criminal conduct because it was the same gun, the same victim (the general public) in the same location, with the same objective intent—to possess the firearm. CP 106. The court disagreed and counted this single act of possession as two separate points in Mr. Crane's offender score. 1/05/22 RP 23.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip Op. at 1.

### D. ARGUMENT

1. This Court should accept review to clarify the application of *Westwood* and resolve a division split about whether two convictions for possession of the same firearm are the same criminal conduct.

This Court should accept review to guide lower courts on the application of its decision in *Westwood*, 2 Wn.3d 157, and to resolve a division split as to whether possession of a single firearm is the same criminal conduct.

When a person is sentenced for two or more current offenses, the sentence range for each is determined by counting all other current and prior convictions "unless the crimes involve" the "same criminal conduct." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). "Same criminal conduct" means crimes that involved the same victim, were committed at the same time and place, and involved the same criminal intent. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

To determine if two offenses had the same criminal intent, courts look to "the objective intent and whether the crimes were closely related enough to justify a finding of same criminal conduct." *Westwood*, 2 Wn.3d at 168.

Division I found that when a person is convicted of both unlawful possession of a firearm (under the statute prohibiting firearms possession for those with prior felony convictions) and possession of an unlawful firearm (of a type that is generally unlawful for anyone to possess), based on the same gun, the two offenses are the same criminal conduct. *Hatt*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 143.

Hatt was convicted of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree and possession of an

unlawful firearm. *Id.* at 121. The court determined that the charges both stemmed from possessing the same firearm at the same time and place. *Id.* at 142. The court concluded that for each offense the victim was the same: the general public. *Id.* Regarding intent, the court reasoned, "Although Hatt's possession of the weapon was unlawful for two separate reasons, his objective criminal intent in committing the two crimes was the same: to possess the firearm." *Id.* at 143.

The same facts exist in Mr. Crane's case. He was convicted of knowingly possessing a short-barreled shotgun. CP 34; 73. He was convicted of unlawful possession of this same firearm. CP 38; CP 75. As he argued to the sentencing court, these were the same criminal conduct because the victim, the same objective intent, and the location were the same. 1/05/22 RP 11– 12, 19-23.

But Division III of the Court of Appeals relied on this Court's decision in *State v. Westwood* to reach a different result than in *Hatt*. Slip op. at 17. Division III agreed "with the holding in *Hatt* that the overarching intent of both crimes" is "to possess the firearm." Id. at 18 (citing 11 Wn. App. 2d at 143). Division III also considered "whether the crimes furthered each other and were part of the same scheme or plan." Id. (citing Westwood, 2 Wn.3d at 168). This consideration led the court to reach the opposite conclusion as Division I finding, the "objective intent" of the two crimes was different and they were not the same criminal conduct. Id.

This Court should accept review to clarify application of the objective intent analysis in *Westwood* and resolve this division split. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

## 2. This Court should accept review and ensure a person is not convicted of witness intimidation for making a threat unrelated to an "official proceeding."

Mr. Crane's threat to kill the person who reported him to Fish and Wildlife was a threat, but it was not an attempt to influence Mr. Kienholz's testimony in an official proceeding as required for conviction for intimidating a witness. This Court should accept review because the mere words Mr. Crane was accused of uttering did not constitute witness intimidation.

Mr. Kienholz's claim about what Mr. Crane said to him after his home was raided and before any criminal charges were brought was insufficient to establish Mr. Crane attempted to influence Mr. Kienholz's *testimony* as required for conviction for witness intimidation. A person commits the offense of intimidating a witness when "by use of a threat against a current or prospective witness," the person "attempts to:"

(a) Influence the testimony of that person;

(b) Induce that person to elude legal process summoning him or her to testify;

(c) Induce that person to absent himself or herself from such proceedings; or

(d) Induce that person not to report the information relevant to a criminal investigation or the abuse or neglect of a minor child, not to have the crime or the abuse or neglect of a minor child prosecuted, or not to give truthful or complete information relevant to a criminal investigation or the abuse or neglect of a minor child.

RCW 9A.72.110.

Section (d) was added in 1994. Laws of 1994, ch.

271 § 204(d). By adding section 1(d), the legislature

intended to eliminate the requirement that there be a

pending official proceeding as required by section 1(a)-

(c), which addresses witness "testimony" or "such

proceedings" where testimony is offered. Laws of 1994, ch. 271 § 204(d); *State v. James*, 88 Wn. App. 812, 816, 946 P.2d 1205 (1997).

Where the added section 1(d) addresses the attempt to influence a person's participation in a criminal investigation, section 1(a)–(c) addresses an attempt to influence a person's "testimony" which by definition involves an official proceeding. RCW 9A.72.010(6) defines "testimony" to include "oral or written statements, documents, or any other material that may be offered by a witness *in an official proceeding*" (emphasis added).

In *State v. Brown*, the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for witness intimidation under section (1)(a) of RCW 9A.72.110, where the State's evidence established only that the defendant threatened the witness in an attempt to prevent her from providing any information to the police, but not to influence the witness's *testimony*. *State v. Brown*, 162 Wn.2d 422, 429–30, 173 P.3d 245 (2007(emphasis in original).

State v. Savaria, 82 Wn. App. 832, 919 P.2d 1263 (1996) further elucidates that prong 1(a) requires evidence of an intent to influence a person's testimony in an official proceeding and does not apply to attempts to influence a criminal investigation. In Savaria, the defendant was charged with assault and violating a protection order against a woman with whom he had a relationship. Id. at 835. During a telephone conversation the night before the trial, the witness informed the defendant that she was going to appear in court the next day. Id. The defendant became very angry, said he wanted the charge dropped, would get revenge, and threatened to kill her with a gun. Id.

The next day both appeared at the courthouse. *Id*. The witness was sitting in the prosecutor's office talking to a police officer when the defendant appeared at the office window, exhibited his middle finger, and glared at the witness. *Id*.

The defendant was charged with harassment for the threat to kill on the phone and charged with intimidating a witness for his conduct at the courthouse. *Savaria*, 82 Wn. App. at 835, 40. The State alleged the defendant intended to influence the defendant's testimony by menacingly glaring at the witness and "flipping her off." *Id.* at 840–41.

The Court of Appeals found "the defendant's actions at the courthouse certainly evidenced his unhappiness that [the witness] was at the courthouse apparently willing to testify against him," but did not support the finding that he "was thereby attempting to influence the content of [her] testimony." *Id.* at 841.

As in *Brown* and *Savaria*, there was no evidence Mr. Crane intended to influence the content of Mr. Kienholz's "testimony." The State charged Mr. Crane with each alternative means of committing the offense under subsections RCW 9A.72.110(1)(a)–(d). CP 12. But the jury was instructed on only one means of committing the offense in section 1(a): "the defendant by the use of a threat against a current or prospective witness attempted to influence the testimony of that person." CP 36.

Mr. Kienholz claimed around 7–7:30 p.m., his dad "came and got me and told me Mitch was outside, and he wanted to talk in his car." RP 185. Mr. Kienholz said Mr. Crane "was waiting by the driver's door" and "[t]old me to get in. So, I sat down. He was very, very aggressive. He put a piece of paper in my lap with a

bunch of highlights." RP 185.

Mr. Kienholz claimed Mr. Crane

Asked me if I was the one that reported him, and I told him that I was not. He told me that if we had any problems we could go out in the front yard and duke it out right now. Then he asked me again if I was the one that turned him in. I told him that I was not, and then he told me that when he found out who turned him in, that he was gonna kill them.

RP 185.

Mr. Kienholz stated that Mr. Crane did nothing physical, "[i]t was just his demeanor." RP 186.

This threat to kill based on Mr. Crane's belief that Mr. Kienholz reported him to Fish and Wildlife may have been a threat, but it was not evidence Mr. Crane intended to influence Mr. Kienholz's *testimony* in an "official proceeding" because it made no reference to any such proceeding. RCW 9A.72.010(6); *Brown*, 162 Wn.2d at 429–30; *Savaria*, 82 Wn. App. at 839–40. Though it could have been construed as inducing Mr. Kienholz to "not report the information relevant to a criminal investigation" under prong 1(d), the jury was not instructed on this means of committing the offense. RCW 9A.72.110(1)(d); CP 36.

Absent evidence of a threat made in an attempt to influence Mr. Kienholz's *testimony*, the evidence is insufficient to support his conviction and his conviction must be reversed. *Brown*, 162 Wn.2d at 430. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

> 3. The evidence was insufficient to establish Mr. Crane knowingly possessed the particular firearms identified by their make, model, and serial number in the toconvict instruction.

The State proposed, and the court gave, "toconvict" instructions that required the jury to find Mr. Crane knowingly possessed a specific firearm identified by make, model, and serial number. Under the law of the case doctrine, Mr. Crane's knowledge of the particular make, caliber, and serial number became an element of the crime the State was required to prove. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the evidence was sufficient to establish the requisite knowledge of these particular firearms. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Under the federal and state constitutions, due process requires that the State prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; *State v. Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d 742, 750, 399 P.3d 507 (2017).

Under Washington's law of the case doctrine, the State must prove the elements included in the toconvict instruction, even when those elements may be "otherwise unnecessary." *State v. Dillon*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 133, 142, 456 P.3d (2020) (citing *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 760). On appeal, a person may assign error to elements added under the law of the case doctrine. *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 756. When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, the reviewing court considers the sufficiency in light of the instructions. *State v. Jussila*, 197 Wn. App. 908, 921, 392 P.3d 1108 (2017).

Washington's law of the case doctrine derives from common law and is "an established doctrine with roots reaching back to the earliest days of statehood." *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 755 (citing *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)). The law of the case doctrine "benefits the system by encouraging trial counsel to review all jury instructions to ensure their propriety before the instructions are given." *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 105. It also promotes "finality and efficiency in the judicial process" and encourages "general notions of fairness" by ensuring that "the appellate courts review a case under the same law considered by the jury." *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 757 (internal citations omitted).

In *Hickman*, the Washington Supreme Court held that by adding the county of the crime in the jury instruction, the State bore the burden of proving the offense's location beyond a reasonable doubt because it was the law of the case. *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 99. The court reversed Hickman's conviction due to the lack of evidence about the county. *Id.* at 106.

The law of the case was reaffirmed in *Johnson*. There, a person was charged with one count of seconddegree theft of an access device. *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 749–51. Specific intent to steal an access device was not a statutory element of the crime. *Id*. 749–51. But because that element was included without objection in the to-convict instruction, the State assumed the burden of proving it. *Id.* at 762.

Here, the essential elements of unlawful possession of a firearm are "[k]nowing possession" of a firearm. *State v. Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. 918, 944, 237 P.3d 928 (2010) (citing *State v. Anderson*, 141 Wn.2d 357, 366, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000)); RCW 9.41.040(1)(a)<sup>3</sup>. The firearm's identifying characteristics are not a statutory element of the crime. *See Id.* However, when the make, model, and serial number for a firearm are included in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RCW 9.41.040(1)(a) provides:

A person, whether an adult or juvenile, is guilty of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, if the person owns, has in his or her possession, or has in his or her control any firearm after having previously been convicted or found not guilty by reason of insanity in this state or elsewhere of any serious offense as defined in this chapter.

the to-convict instruction, they become the law of the case.<sup>4</sup> *Jussila*, 197 Wn. App. at 932.

In Mr. Crane's case, the State proposed the toconvict instruction. RP 344–53; Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (State's Proposed Instructions). The to-convict instructions for unlawful possession of a firearm required the jury to find, for each count of unlawful possession of a firearm, that Mr. Crane "knowingly owned a firearm" or "knowingly had a firearm in his possession or control, to wit:" the particular make, and/or caliber and the serial number of 29 different firearms. CP 38–66.

The requirement of knowledge refers to each element listed in the clause: "[a]s 'a matter of ordinary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *Jussila*, the State did not present evidence about the serial numbers, and evidence about the model of the firearms was extremely limited, and so the court reversed for insufficient evidence on this basis and did not address whether the defendant had knowledge of these elements. 197 Wn.2d at 932.

English grammar,' we normally read the statutory term 'knowingly' as applying to all the subsequently listed elements of the crime." Rehaif v. United States, 588 U.S. 275, 204 L. Ed. 2d 594, 139 S. Ct. 2191, 2196 (2019) (citing Flores-Figueroa v. United States, 556 U.S. 646, 650, 129 S. Ct. 1886, 173 L. Ed. 2d 853 (2009)). Therefore, Mr. Crane's knowledge of the make, caliber, and the serial number of each firearm he allegedly possessed was an element of the crime that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. But the State failed to prove Mr. Crane had knowledge of any particular gun identified in the to-convict instruction.

Viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, no "rational trier of fact" could have found the essential element of knowing possession of the particular firearms identified in the to-convict instruction beyond a reasonable doubt. *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 751 (citing *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)).

The State introduced evidence that Mr. Crane admitted to general possession of some firearms in his home but not the 29 firearms specifically identified in the to-convict instruction. The evidence was insufficient to support his convictions, and dismissal is required.

Officer Horn questioned Mr. Crane about the guns they had found in the house in the broadest of terms: "After I had talked to him about the -- the deer hunting stuff, then I brought up the firearms to him." RP 203. Mr. Crane told Officer Horne "that most of the firearms belonged to him. He said some belonged to his son, Andrew, and some belonged to Mrs. Lacotti." RP 203. The extent of Mr. Crane's knowledge was "that they were being stored inside of a -- of a gun safe in the primary bedroom. He told me that the safe was locked and that the only person that had the key for the safe was Mrs. Lacotti." RP 203.

As the officer continued to question Mr. Crane, his account of how the guns were stored changed slightly, but he never identified any specific firearms. The Fish and Wildlife Officer testified that Mr. Crane "admitted the safe was open." RP 205. Mr. Crane also "told me that his uncle had dropped the firearms off the previous day or two. That he was not home when the firearms had been dropped off." RP 205.

This was the extent of the officer's questioning of Mr. Crane about the guns found in the bedroom. RP 209. The officer did not take Mr. Crane into the bedroom to show him the guns they had found and did not ask him specifically which guns were brought to his house. RP 209. This general admission to possession of some firearms in the bedroom did not establish knowledge of the particular make, model, and serial numbers included in the to-convict instructions for the firearms police seized. CP 38–66.

As for the two guns officers located in Mr. Crane's shop, Mr. Crane stated only that they were "replicas that he had gotten from an acquaintance. One of the guns was a -- was just a metal part left over from like a 30-30 lever-action rifle. It looked like it had been burned at one point, and he told me that he was trying to refurbish that gun." RP 207.

Though arguably this established more specific knowledge of a particular gun, unlike for any gun located in the house, it by no means established knowledge of a "Meridian 12 GA short Shotgun Serial #15509," or an "H&R .38 Special revolver" as the toconvict instruction required the State prove he knowingly possessed. CP 38–39.

Mr. Crane's admission to generally possessing some guns in no way established he knowingly possessed any of the particularly identified guns as the State alleged in the information and to-convict instruction. Even when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, this evidence is insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Crane knew each firearm's make, caliber, and serial number.

The State failed to prove Mr. Crane knowingly possessed the firearms bearing the specific make, model, and serial number contained in the to-convict instructions. Because the evidence was insufficient to prove the elements of the crimes, the convictions for  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{unlawful}}\xspace$  possession of a firearm must be reversed and

the charges dismissed. *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 103.

# E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, petitioner Mitchell Crane