FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/17/2024 11:18 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 103082-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

MITCHELL EUGENE CRANE, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC EISINGER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

TERRY BLOOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Ste. A230 Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Review should be granted because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The State assumes that it will have the opportunity to argue this decision is correct. If not, the State will rely on its brief filed with the Court of Appeals and the Court of Appeals decision.

Briefly, not all firearms are equal. There are legal firearm and illegal firearms. The reason is that some firearms are illegal, under RCW 9.41.190. The reason the legislature made some firearms illegal is that they are more dangerous and easier to conceal than a legal firearm. The defendant wanted to have a shotgun that was easy to conceal. His objective intent was not to have a firearm available at a gun store. His objective intent was

to possess a firearm more dangerous and easier to hide than a normal firearm.

The Court of Appeals decision was correct. Nevertheless, this Court should accept review because there is a conflict between the divisions of the Court of Appeals.

B. This is not a significant question under either the State or Federal Constitutions: A rational jury could reasonably conclude that Andrew Kienholz was a prospective witness in an official proceeding.

The defendant has not explained why the jury's conclusion that he intimidated a witness, namely Andrew Kienholz by attempting to influence his testimony, is a constitutional question. In any event, the Court of Appeals decision is correct on this point.

The defendant's citations to *State v. Savaria*, 82 Wn. App. 832, 919 P.2d 1263 (1996) and to *State v. Brown*, 162 Wn.2d 422, 173 P.3d 245 (2007) are not on point. In *Savaria*, the defendant was charged with intimidation of a witness by the alternative means of "attempting to influence" the witness's

testimony and "inducing the witness to absent herself" prongs in RCW 9A.72.110 (1)(a) and (c). *Id.* at 840. The defendant, in a telephone call the night before the trial, asked the victim to drop the case. When she said she would appear, he became angry, said he would get revenge, and threatened to kill her with a gun. *Id.* at 835. The next day both the victim and Mr. Savaria appeared at the courthouse. *Id.* When he saw the victim talking to a police officer at the courthouse, Mr. Savaria flipped her off and glared at her. *Id.*

The *Savaria* court held there was no issue about the "induce the witness to absent herself" prong. But there was no evidence that the defendant intended to influence the victim's testimony. The context of the defendant's statements in *Savaria* was to get the victim to drop the charges. *Id.* When she said she would appear at trial, the defendant threatened her and said he would get revenge. The victim testified that she was unsure the defendant would kill her but was afraid he might hurt her. *Id.* at 840. There was no effort to try to influence the witness's

testimony; rather, the effort by Mr. Savaria was to have the victim fail to appear for trial.

In contrast, in this case the defendant was angry about the ongoing investigation about his illegal hunting activities and threatened to kill or fight with Andrew Kienholz if he was the source of information about his poaching. At the point that the defendant demanded to see Andrew in his car, slapped the search warrant in front of him and threatened him, the defendant knew there was an ongoing investigation into his illegal hunting. He knew that there was a witness to his activities. He knew it might be Andrew. The defendant's intent was not to literally kill Andrew but tell him that if he continued cooperating with the authorities and if he ever testified at a trial, there would be hell to pay. A jury could reasonably conclude that the threat was an attempt to influence Andrew's eventual testimony.

The statute, RCW 9A.72.110 (1)(a), does not require that the defendant refer to a specific "official proceeding" and *Brown* and *Savaria* do not hold that the defendant is not guilty unless he

refers to a specific "official proceeding." In fact, a person may be convicted of intimidating a witness if the threat relied upon by the prosecution was made before the investigation is pending. *State v. James*, 88 Wn. App. 812, 817, 946 P.2d 1205 (1997).

In *Brown*, the defendant told a third person, Melissa Hill, who overheard the defendant talking about a burglary, that she would "pay" if she spoke to the police. *Brown*, 162 Wn.2d at 426. He was charged under a former version of RCW 9A.72.110 with directing a threat to Ms. Hill, "a person that the defendant had reason to believe was about to be called as a witness in an official proceeding." Id. at 429. The Brown court held that the threat ("if you go to the police, you will pay") was to prevent Ms. Hill from going to the police, not to influence her testimony if she went to the police. *Id.* at 430. Here, Andrew Kienholz had already gone to the police and the criminal investigation for Illegal Hunting was underway and a jury could conclude that Andrew would be called as a witness on case. The State argued this in closing: "[T]he only reason the defendant went there (to

the Kienholz residence) was to intimidate. To attempt to influence any future cooperation with law enforcement." RP at 406.

C. The format for the to-convict instructions is not a constitutional question and the instructions merely specified what the firearms were in all 26 charges.

The State will rely on its brief to the Court of Appeals and the Court of Appeals decision. "To wit" means "namely," according to Black's Law Dictionary. *To wit*, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed, 2019). So, the to-convict instruction could be read as:

(1) That on or about February 4, 2020, the defendant knowingly owned a firearm or knowingly had a firearm in his possession or control, to wit namely: H&R 1871 45-70 cal break action rifle Serial #H260932. CP 60.

This interpretation is consistent with caselaw, see *State v*. *Munoz-Rivera*, 190 Wn. App. 870, 361 P.3d 182 (2015).

Exhibits 4-6 and 23-49 identified each firearm by their make, model and serial number. The decision by the Court of Appeals is correct.

Whether "to-wit" is defined as "namely" is not a constitutional issue.

IV. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petition for review should be accepted as to the conflict with a published case regarding whether Unlawful Possession of a Firearm and Possession of an Unlawful Firearm are in the same course of criminal conduct. The petition for review should be denied on the other two issues.

This document contains 1,999 words, excluding parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.